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9 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
10 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
11 SAN JOSE DIVISION
12 | SUSAN IVIE, individually and on behalf of a| Case No. €12-02554RMW

others similarly situated,
13 Plaintiff ORDER GRANTING -IN-PART ANDI
14 ' DENYING -IN-PART DEFENDANTS
MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND
15 | V- AMENDED COMPLAINT
16 | KRAFT FOODS GLOBAL, INC., CADBURY
17 éggl\gscgfﬂAp,La\lf\%,and BACK TO NATURE [Re Docket No.56]
18 Defendants.
19
20 Plaintiff allegesthatdefendants Kraft Foods GlobalclpnCadbury Adams USA LLC, and
21 | Back to Nature Food Company (collectively "defendantsfate California's unfair completion
22 | law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 172@0seq ("UCL") (counts 1-3), fair advertising lavd. §
23 | 17500et seq("FAL") (counts 45), and Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 1750,
24 | et seq("CLRA") (count §. Second Amended Compl. ("SAC"), Dkt. No. 5Bhe laws alleged
25 || to be violated as a predicate for the "unlawful" prong of plaisitif€L claim include provisions
26 | of the state Sherman Food, Drug, and Cosmetic California Health & Safety Cod& 109875
27 | et seq("Sherman Laws") On February 25, 2013 the court dismissed gila@iftiff's claims
28
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based onestitution, theSong-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act, ahd MagnusonMoss
Warrany Act with prejudice and some of plaintiff's UCL, FAL, and CLRA claims with leave
amend. Dkt. No. 49. The SAC (1) amends the previously dismissed UCL, FAL, and CLR
claimsbased omllegedlyunlawful or deceptive labels and @Jd a hosof new claims based @
defendants' unpurchased produbtst beathe samear similarlabelsas those that plaintiff
purchased Defendants move to dismiss the amended claims, the new claims based on pr¢
that plaintiff did not herself purchase, goidintiff's claimsbased ortertain statements plaintiff
allegedly viewed on defendants' website only. Having considered the argumentsastidse
and for the reasons set forth below, this court GRAN$ART and DENIESN-PART
defendants' motion tdismiss.
|. BACKGROUND

A. Statutory and Regulatory Framework

In 1938, Congress enacted the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act ("FDCA™)dce
at 21 U.S.C. § 30&t seg. "The [FDCA] gives the [United States Food and Drug Administrat
("FDA")] the responsibility to protect the public health by ensuring that 'foods are safe
wholesome, sanitary, and properly labeled,' 21 U.S.C. § 393(b)(2)(A), and the FDA has
promulgated regulations pursuant to this authosig, e.g.21 C.F.R. 8§ 101.&t sed.
Lockwood v. Conagra Foods, In&97 F. Supp. 2d 1028, 1030 (N.D. Cal. 2009). "There is |
private right of action under the FDCAIY. (citing Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc. v. Thompsatv8
U.S. 804, 810 (1986)). Rather, "the FDA enforces the FDCA and its regulations through
administrative proceedings.1d.

In 1990, Congress enacted the Nutrition Labeling and Education Act ("NLEA"fiexzbd
in scattered sections of 21 U.S.C., amending the FDCA. "The NLEA aimed tiy ‘aladi
.. .Sstrengthen the [PA's] authority to require nutrition labeling on foods, and to establish th
circumstances under which claims may be made about nutrients in foBdacanaca v. Quake
Oats Co, 752 F. Supp. 2d 1111, 1116 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 104538,
(2990),reprinted in1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3336, 3337). For example, 21 U.S.C. § 343 provide

a "food shall be deemed misbrandedinfer alia, it contains a "false or misleading label,"
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§ 343(a); if information required on the label is "not prominently placed" on the label in
comparison with other words, & 3(f); if it "bears or contains any artificial flavoring, artificial
coloring, or chemical preservative" without "bear[ing] labeling stating #wt'f§343(k); if it
does not properly identify nutrition information, for example, serving size, numbevofgse
calories, and certain nutrients, 8 343(q); or if it contains improper "nutritiorslenel health
related claims,” 843(r)("nutrient content claims’’)

The NLEA also "amended the FDCA by adding [21 U.S.C. §.343] an express
preemption provision.'Lockwood 597 F. Supp. 2d at 1030. Section 343-1(a) provides in

relevant part that:

[N]Jo State or political subdivision of a State may directly or indirectly establis
under any authority or continue in effect as to any food in interstate commerce

(3) any requirement for the labeling of food of the type required by section
... 343(d) [misleading container], 343(f) [prominence of information on label],
343(h) [representations as to standards of quality and fill of containerfr.
343(k) [artificial flavoring, artificial coloring, or chemical preservatives this
title that is not identicato the requirement of such section

(4) any requirement for nutrition labeling of fotitht is not identicato the
requirement of section 343(q) [nutrition information] of this title

(5) any requirement respecting any claim of the type described in section
343(r)(1) [nutrient content claims] of this title, made in thkel or labeling of
foodthat is not identicato the requirement of section 343(r) of this title . . . .

21 U.S.C. § 3431a)(3)(5) (emphases added). The express preemption provisions "reach[
beyond positive enactments like statutes and regulatmespbrace commelaw duties and
judgeimade rules."Chacanaca752 F. Supp. 2d at 1118 (citiBates v. Dow Agrosciences, LL
544 U.S. 431, 443 (2005)). The NLEA, however, does not "preempt any provision of State
not "expressly preempted under [21 U.S.C. 8 B&8}." Id. (quoting Pub. L. No. 101-535,
§ 6(c)(1), 104 Stat. 2353, 2364).

B. California State Laws

California's Sherman Lavwedopt the federal labeling requirementshesfood labeling
requirements of the stat€al. Health & Safety Cod 8 110100 (“All food labeling regulations
ORDER RE: DEFS." MOTION TO DISMISS
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and any amendments to those regulations adopted pursuant to the federal act, in effecrgr
1, 1993, or adopted on or after that date shall be the food regulations of this state.”).idn ad

to this blaket provision, the Berman Laws specifically adopertain provisions that mirror or

dit

incorporate by reference the FD@Ad NLEAfood labeling and packing requirements, including

the following provisions thatnter alia, form the basis for the "unlawful" prong of plaintiff's

UCL clains:

Any food is misbranded if its labeling is false or misleading in any
particular id. 8 110660;

Any food ismisbranded if its labeling does not conform with the
requirements for nutrition labeling set forth in Section 403(q) (21 U.S.C. Sec.
343(q))of the federal acand the regulations adopted pursuant thereto
8 110665 (emphasis added)

Any food ismisbranded if its labeling does not conform with the
requirements for nutrient content or health claims set forth in Section 403(r) (21
U.S.C. Sec. 343(r)) of the federal acd the regulations adopted pursuant
theretq id. 8 110670 (emphasis added);

Any food is misbranded if any word, statement, or other information
required pursuant to this part to appear on the label or labeling is not prominently
placed upon the label or labeling with conspicuousness, as compared with other
words, statements, designs, or devices in the labeling and in terms as to render it
likely to be read and understood by the ordinary individual uogstomary
conditions of purchase and ug#®,8 110705;

Any food is misbranded if it purports to be, or is represented, for special
dietary uses... and its label does not bear information concerning any vitamin or
mineral content, or other dietary property as the department prescribes, by
regulation, as necessary to fully inform purchasers as to the food's value for that
use,id. 8 110735; and

Any food is misbranded if it bears or contains any artificial flavoring,
artificial coloring, or chemical preservative, unless its labeling states that fac
Exemptions may bestablished by the departmeidt,§ 110740.

SeeSAC 1149, 187-208.

C. The Products and Labels at Issuen the Second Motion to Dismiss

Thelabels primarilyat issue in defendantse®nd motion to dismiss arét) the "natural
lemon [lemondade] flavor” claims on tReystal Lightproductsand (3 the nutrient content

claims "good source" and "wholesome" on Planter'sthticn WWholesome Nut Mixand(3) the
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fat-related nutrient conte claimson Kraft's Mexican Style Four CheeBkend. The issue is
whether plaintiff has cured the pleading to sufficiently allege a violation afgpkcable FDA

regulations that would render these labels unlawful and misleading to a reasmrame

Plaintiff also raises host onew claims with respect to "essentially identical" or "similar"

packaging and labels on products allegedly purchased by other class memloeliaginc

(1) all Trident sugarless gum flavors ("essentially identic&AC 224

(2) other lines of Trident gum ("simila'id.;

(3) all Dentyne Ice and Dentyne Fire sugarless gum flavors ("esserdetiydal™) id.
1223

(4) all varieties of defendants' Back to Nature coglgesham cracker@nd granola with
the "matural” or "evaporated cane juice" claiffisimilar"), id. 1226-27

(5) all original Capri Sun flavorsll "share a uniform size and shape [and] on casual
inspection, the only obvious difference between them is their flavor, and all flawrhbesme
challenged label")d. § 228;

(6) all CapriSun Sunrise flavors ("essentially the same" packaging as the origipal C
Sun flavors and "the same challenged label'),

(7) all CapriSun Roarn' Waters flavors ("substantially simila@tkaging andhallenged
label), id.;

(8) all varieties of Planters Nutition line ("while the nutrient content claims may vary
all make the prominent and explicit 'healthy' claims" without the required diselstatement ofr
the front panel)id. § 229;

(9) all Country Time lemonade produdtsimilar packages" and the "same lahat.
230;

(10) all Stovetop Stuffing varieties ("similar packagiragid the same slack jijlid. § 231;

(11) all JellO Sugar Free flavors ("similar packagiragid the same sladil ), id. § 232;

(12) all Crystal Light products bearing the "natural and other natural flaets" (all

"share a uniform size and shape [and] on casual inspection, the only obvious diffeterees be

them is their flavor, and all flavors bear the sarhallenged label")d. § 233;

ORDER RE: DEFS.' MOTION TO DISMISS
CASE NO. G12-02554RMW -5-
ALG/ GH

174




© o0 N o o A w N Pk

N N N N N DN DN NN R R R R R R R B R
0o N o 0N WN P O ©OW 0o N O o hN WwWN P O

(13) all Kraft cheese varieties bearing the "natural cheese" labedlildr packaging, id.
9 234;

(14) all varieties of defendants' Back to Nature Cookies ("the only obviousediier
between them is their flavor, aadl flavors bear the same challenged labéd’)y 235.

Finally, there is an issue whethaaims based on statements plaintiff allegedly saly
on defendants' website are pled with sufficient particularity.

[I. ANALYSIS
A. Legal Standard

"After the pleadings are closed[,] . a party may move for judgment on the pleadings|"

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c). When considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the cour|
all factual allegations in the complaint as true and construes them in mbghfavorable to the
plaintiff. Sateriale v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco,&87 F.3d 777, 783 (9th Cir. 2012). To surv
a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the facts pled need only gite ‘tegselaim to
relief that is plausible on ifsce.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).
"However, this principle is innaplicable to legal conclusions; 'threadbaitals of the elements
of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements,' are not takeri d&3dlacruz
v. Cytosport, InG.No 11-3532, 2012 WL 256385&t*5 (N.D. Cal. June 28, 2012) (quoting
Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

B. Judicial Notice

The court takes judicial notice of exhibits5, filed by defendants in support of this
motion Dkt. No. 57. Exhibits 1-6 depict the packaging of the products plaintiff challenged
SAC. See Bronson v. Johnson & Johnson,,Iho. 12-4104, 2013 WL 1629191, at *1 n.1 (N.
Cal. Apr. 16, 2013) (explaining that judicial notice of the food product packaging relied upc
the complaint is appropriate and does not convert a motion to dismiss into a motion f@rgu
judgment).

Plaintiff asks the court to take judicial notice of three public documents in otlesr thad
demonstrate the FDA'©pition on the issue of whether the FDCA preempts a private action

enforce state requirements that are identical to the FOQA. No. 60. The court need not tak
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judicial notice of these documents but, to the extent the court finds them helpftdwaigee, the

court will consider them as it would consider any other published authd3#ye Feezor v. Exce
Stockton, LLG.No. 12-0156, 2013 WL 2485623, at *3 (E.D. Cal. June 10, 2013) ("As these
materials are not themselves facts, they are notcubjgudicial notice.").

C. Plaintiff's Amended UCL Claims Based on "Unlawful" Labels

Defendants move to dismiss the amencladns on the grounds that: (1) they are still
expressly preempted by 21 U.S.C. § 343-1(a) because the product labels compBRAvith
regulations; (2) they are impliedly preempted because they are basedsa#fged violations
of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act ("FDCA") and conflict with the FOCA

enforcement scheme; (3) the FDA Ipasnary jurisdictionover the clairs because the FDA can

14

better determine the technical issué font size and placement; and (4) the labels are unlikely to

deceivea reasonable consumand therefore plaintiff has no standing. Defendants also ask
court to dismiss the new claims bdsm products that plaintiff did not herself purchase. Fing
defendants ask the court to dismiss plaintiff's claims based on certamestegelaintiff

allegedly viewed on defendants’ website only.

1. Expresspreemption
Defendarg arguethat plaintiffsamended UCL claims are preemptettier 21 U.S.C.
§ 343-1, the FDCA's express preemption provision. According to defendecdsise thedeod
labek at issuarein complianceor, at least in substantial complianegth federal law, a
judgment in plaitiff's favor would impose different or additional requirements than those of
FDCA and NLEA, and thuthe claims are expressly preempt@&daintiff counters thathese
labelsactually violateexisting FDA policies, and thus, plaintiff seeks to impose nothing mor¢

than what the FDA already requires.

(@  "Natural | emon [lemonadejflavor” claims on the purchased
Crystal Light products

Plaintiff first claims that th@urchased Crystal Light produatsntain artificial flavors
which "simulate, resemble, or reinforce the characterizing flavor, ingustidium citrate and

potassium citrate." SACH6. Therefore, plaintiff argues, the product is not eligible to bear 1
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"natural flavors" label under 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(i)(2l} {'the food contains any artificilavor
which simulates, resembles or reinforces the characterizing flavtive name of the
characterizing flavor shall be accompanied by the word(s) ‘artificiardicially flavored™).
Neither partydisputeghe fact that the purchaséuaysial Light productslo, in fact, contain a
natural lemon flavor within the meaning of 21 C.F.R. 8 101.22(a)(3). The issue then, is wk
the product containsdditionalartificial flavorsthat simula¢, resemble, or reinford¢be natural
lemon flavor. The court concludes that the product does not contain angdslibinal artificial
flavors.

In the SAC, plaintiff only points to two specific ingredients which she alleges are
"artificial" flavors potassium citrate and sodium citra®AC  66. \While these substances ma
be artificialingredients nothing in the FDA regulations suggests that these ingredients are
flavors artificial or otherwise. Potassium citrate is listed by the BBAeing used ithe
pasteurization of certain cheese prodgasemulsifying agentsyee2l C.F.R. 88 133.169,
133.171, 133.179, armbdium citrate is described by the regulatiasan artificial sweetenan
jams and preservesee21 C.F.R. 88 150.161. Neither product, however, is included in the
FDA's list of arificial flavors See2l1 C.F.R. § 172.515(b), 182.6ealso Viggiano v. Hansen

Natural Corp, No. 12-10747, 2013 WL 2005430, at *7 (C.D. Cal. May 13, 2013) (finding thiat

sucralose was not a flavor when FDA regulations listed it only as a sweatehd not list it as
an artificial flavor). A bare, conclusory assertion that these two ingredients "simulate][],
resemble[], or reinforce[] the characterizing [lemon] flavor," without aasidfor such a
conclusion in the FDA regulations or otherwise, sufficient tostate a clainthat these labels
violate 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(i)(2)See Igbal556 U.Sat678 ("A pleading that offers 'labels and
conclusions' or 'a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of adioot do." Nor does :
complant suffice if it tenders 'naked assertion[s]' devoid of 'further fachledcement.™

(internal quotation omittedl) Since the Crystal Light produatsfer specifically to the natural
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lemonflavor, rather than naturahgredientggenerally, the fact thahe product containome
allegedly unnatural substandé® potassium citrate and sodium citrate does not render the
false or misleading under FDA guidelineSee, e.gViggiang 2013 WL 2005430 at *7
("Hansen's soda can refer specifically to natflaabrs. . . thefact that [some ingredients] are
allegedly unnatural does not render Hansen's 'all natural flavors' lagebfanisleading under
FDA guidelines."). The court also concludes titae "natural lemoflemonadeflavor” claims
arein compliance with FDA regulations concerning font size and placeneeatse the word
"flavor" appears to be printed in at least 1/2 the font size of the phrase "hatuval
[lemonade]."See21 C.F.R. 8§ 101.22(i)(1)(iii) Because th€rystal Light ldels aretherefore
wholly in compliance with FDA regulationthey are expressly preempted by the FDCA
Allowing plaintiff's statelaw claim to proceed would mean reading California's Shern
Laws to impose an additional or different riegary requirenent on defendants' product, in
violation of the FDCA's express preemption provisi@eeKanter v. Warner-Lambert Ca99
Cal. App. 4th 780, 795 (2002)\V] hen a statéaw claim, however couched, would effectively
require a manufacturer to include additional or different information on a fedapglioved

label, it is preemptet); Chacanaca v. Quaker Oats C@52 F. Supp. 2d 1111, 1121-23 (N.D.

Cal. 2010) (finding express preemption8EL and other statlaw claims that sought to impose

labeling requiements that were not identical to FDA regulations regarding the use ofrtize te
"0g Trans Fdtand "good sourcedf calcium awl fiber. Thus, paintiff's claims against the
purchasedCrystal Light productareexpressly preempte Because the defendanvereunable

to cure the claims, and any further attempts would be futile, this dismissal is&jittipe.

! The court is not psuaded that the "nal lemon [emonade]" label can be viewed in isolatio
of the word flavor immediately below, which is in compliance with the FDA reigalatertaining
to "natural flavor" claims. The court rejects plaintiff's attempt to chaiaettrese claims as "al
natural” claims in isolation of the flavor claims.

ORDER RE: DEFS.' MOTION TO DISMISS
CASE NO. G12-02554RMW -9-
ALG/ GH

abel

han

14

n




© o0 N o o A w N Pk

N N N N N DN DN NN R R R R R R R B R
0o N o 0N WN P O ©OW 0o N O o hN WwWN P O

(b) Nutrient content claims "good source"and "wholesome" on
Planter's Nut-trition Wholesome Nut Mix

Plainiff next alleges that defendanhut mix product is misbranded because the
disclosure statement concerning the nutrient content claims ("good so&rgéarhins and
minerals" and "wholesome") denot comply with FDA regulations concerning typeface and

placement. SAC § 133. While the disclosure is indeed present on the Nutrition Factspanel

thebackof the product, it does not appear adjacent to the nutrient content claims placed op the

front of the label, and is thus in technical violation of 21 C.F.R. § 101.13(4]{i)h¢ disclosure|
statement shall be immediately adjacent to the nutrient content claim and may have no

intervening material . .. If the nutrient content claim appears on more than one panel of th

112

label, the disclosure statement shall be adjacent to the claim on each pamelddition to
violating the FDA's placement requirement, the Ninth Circuitatssheld that "reasonable
consumers" would not necessarily look beyond the front of the packaging to discaegjuilsée
disclosure statemenBee Williams vGeber Prods. Cq.552 F.3d 934, 939 (9th Cir. 2008)
("[W]e disagree. . that reasonable consumers should be asked to look beyond misleading
representations on the front of the box to discover the truth."). Thus, the disclosurerstaem
potentially misleadindpased both on the FDA's "objective critersge Delacruz22012 WL
2563857, at *8 ("The FDA regulations may lend objective criteria by which to determine
whether certain words and phrases used on the labels are misleading.")emith@mneaming
in Williams,

Courts have found that where plaintiffs are only seeking to impose state lawmesniss
that aredenticalto federal regulations, there is expresgpreemption under the FDCASee
e.g, Wilson v. FriteLay N. Am., In¢.No. 12-1586, 2013 WL 132046& *7 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 1,
2013);Brazil v. Dole Food Cq.No. 12-01831, 2013 WL 1209955, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 25,

14

2013);Lanovaz v. Twinings N. Am., Indlo. 12-02646, 2013 WL 675929, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Feb.
25, 2013)Kosta v. Del Mote Corp, 12-01722, 2013 WL 2147413, at *7 (N.D. Cal. May 15,
2013). Since California's Sherman Laws fully adopt federal food labeling lawjrad
plaintiff's state law UCL claims to proceed based on the "unlawfulnesisé ofut mix label
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imposes no other requirement than what FDA regulations already require. Whether or not
defendantdabel is alsanisleadingfor the purposes of the UCL is another essliscussed later i
this order, but for the purposes of preemption, plaintiff's claim iexmtesk/ preempted and

cannot be dismissed on that basis.

(© Fat-related nutrient content claimson Kraft's Mexican Style
Four Cheese Blend

The same analysis appliesth@ fatrelated nutrient conteictaims on defendantsheese
product. Plaintiff has cured thpleadings and now sufficiently alleges that deferglahtese
product is in technical violation of FDA regulations concerning the size and ateirthe
requisite disclosure statemer8AC 1134;see21 C.F.R. § 101.13J)(i). While the label does
bear the requisite disclosure stateméns not immediately adjacent to the claim at the top of
label, and is arguably not in "bold or easily legible typeface or'mstequired by the
regulation. Te fact that tis label does not comply with FDA regulations precludes express
preemption because, as explained, allowing plaintiff's claim to proceed impmse#ser
requirements than what the FDA and applicaidee Shermabawsalready require. Therefore
plaintiff's claim regarding the faktlated nutrient content claim on the cheese product cannot

dismissed on the basis epresgpreemption.

2. Implied Preemption

Defendarg also ague that plaintiff's claimare impliedly preempted because they are
based solely on alleged violations of the FDCA, and conflict with the FDCA's enfert
scheme, citing the Ninth Circuit's recent decisioRénez v. Nidek711 F.3d 1109 (9th Cir.
2013). Defendants argue thatnderPerezit is the FDA, not private plaintiffs, that must be
responsible for enforcing FDA regulations, and that plaintiff's claimsftirerdo not fit through
the "narrow gap" through which a state law claim must squeeze toianmidd preemption.
Reply 9 Dkt. No. 63.

In Perez plaintiff brought several stataw claims against group of physicians for
failing to disclose that a laser medical device used on the plaintiff had notE®A pre-
approval. Perez 711 F.3d at 1112. he medical device at issue was subject to deypeeific
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requirements under the FDA's prexrketapproval regimeld. at 1118. The Ninth Circuit held
that plaintiff's statdaw clains wereexpressly preempted becauley depended onstate law
requirement "in addition to those federal requirementshat physicians and medical device
companiesnust affirmatively tell patientshen medical devices have not been approved for
certain use."ld. at 1118-19emphasis added)Because FDA regulations did not specifically
require this disclosuréhe circuit court held that allowing plaintiff's stdaw clains to proceed
would have meant imposing an additional regulatory requirement on the defendants, aghic
expressly precluded by the preemption provision of the FDIdAat 1119.

However, he Ninth Circuit went on to note that plaintiff's ches were alsampliedly
preempted, i.e., would be precluded even absent an express preemption provision in the |
becausallowing the state claim® proceed would have undermined the FDCA's enforceme
scheme.ld. at 1119. This is the basis for defendants' second preemption argument. Butt
Ninth Circuit's conclusion on this issue wa#l based on the fact that plaintiff's stdéev claims
would have imposed an additional disclosure requirement on the defendants that was not
by federal rgulations. Becausehe FDA was still in the midst of investigating whether or not
failure to disclose actually constituted a violation of the FO{@Adthe FDAhas primary
responsibility for enforcing the FDCA), the circuit court held that allowigngff's statelaw
fraud-by-omissions claims to proceed colldvepotentially underminethe FDA's enforcement
authority if the FDA reached a different conclusiadd. at 1120.

However, nowhere in its opinion did the Ninth Circuit argue that allowiamifs to
bring statedaw claims based on state laws thatallel federal requirements would constitute
"private enforcement” of FDA regulations that would conflict with the FDé¢glatory
authority. In fact, it noted the opposite: stie-claimsare notimpliedly preempted "insofar as
the statdaw duty parallels a federédw duty.” Id. at 1118 (internal citations omitted). While
the Ninth Circuit was speaking only in the context of the Medical Devices Amertsitoethe
FDCA, lower courts, including this district, have repeatedly extended th@niaggo violations
of FDA food labeling regulations more generally if there is a regulationtiyi@c point. See,

e.g, Wilson 2013 WL 1320468, at *Brazil, 2013 WL 1209955, at *4.
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Unlike thesituation inPerez here, faintiff's claims rest entirely owiolations of
California'sSherman Law counterpattsatparallel federal requirements, and which do not
require this court to create new requirements or interpret the scope of lgueresting
regulations. Here, the court need only determine whether deferidaats'actually comply with
existing and welunderstood FDA regulations, "a determination that would not riskrantting
the FDA's expert judgments and authoritstiana v. HairCelestial Grp, No. 11-6342, 2012
WL 5873585, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 19, 2012) (internal citations omitt@dhe court must "start
from a presumption against preemptioiosta 2013 WL 2147413, at *9Where, as herehere
is no conflict between stated federal law that might interfere with FDA regulatory authority
the court declines to find that plaintiff's claims are impliedly preempted. Themto dismiss

on the basis dmplied preemption is therefore denied.

3. The primary jurisdiction doctrine does not apply to the remaining
claims

Similar reasoning applies to defendants' argument that this court should dismiss on|the

basis of primary jurisdiction. "The primary jurisdiction doctrine allows cdoritay proceedings
or to dismiss a complaint thiout prejudice pending the resolution of an issue within the special

competence of an administrative agenc@lark v. Time Warner Cab)&23 F.3d 1110, 1114

(9th Cir. 2008). The doctrine "is committed to the sound discretion of the court when 'protection

of the integrity of a regulatory scheme dictates preliminary resort to theyag#ich administer

J7

the scheme."Syntek Semiconductor Co. v. Microchip Tech, I8@7 F.3d 775, 78®th Cir.
2002) (quotindJnited States v. General Dynamics Cog28 F.2d 1356, 1362 (9th Cir. 1987))

Courts consider the following naxhaustive factors in deciding whether the doctrine of primary

jurisdiction applies: "(1) the need to resolve an issue that (2) has been placaugogssS within
the jurisdiction of an administrative body having regulatory authority (3) pursuangtatute that
subjects an industry or activity to a comprehensive regulatory authoritidjhraguires expertise
or uniformity in administration."ld. The doctrine "is to be used only iEkaim 'requires

resolution of an issue of first impression, or of a particularly complicated issu€dngress has
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committed to a regulatory agen€yTime Warner523 F.3d at 1114 (quotirigrown v. MCI
WorldCom Network Sery277 F.3d 1166, 1172 (9th Cir. 2002)).

As previously noted, plaintiff's case does not require this court to determimaildiffi
issues of first impression better left to the FDA's expertise, but insteadegnires the
application of well-understood FDA regulations directly on poifif] he FDA's expertise...is
not necessary to determine whether the labels are misleading, [and the] reasomsimer
determination and other issues involved in [this] lawsuit are within the expertise adurts to
resolve." Delacruz 2012 WL 2563857, at *1Gee also Brazil2013 WL 1209955, at *10-11
(holding that primary jurisdiction did not apply to claims of violation of FDA reguiatand
guidance concernintall natura)" fresh, antioxidant, and other nutrient claim’gtiana vBen &
Jerry’s Homemade, IncNo. 10-4387, 2011 WL 2111796, at *15 (N.D. Cal. May 26, 2011)
(holding that primary jurisdiction did not apply where the court had to determinberhet
defendant’s “All Natural” claims were misleadin@hacanaca752 F. Supp. 2dt1124
("[Paintiffs] assert that defendant has violated FDA regulations and marketed a product th
could mislead a reasonable consumHris is a question courts are wetjuipped to handle."
Defendang’ motion to dismiss on the basis of primary jurcsdin is denied.

4. Standing

Finally, defendants argue that plaintiff's remainttegms should be dismissed because
labels, even if in technical violation of FDA regulations, are unlikely to decewasamable
consumer, and plaintiff therefore has no standing. According to defenoacasise plaintiff
could not hav&nownabout the FDA's regulations regarding the font size and placement of
disclosure statementshe could not have relied on or been deceived by the alleged violatior

In order tobring a claim under the UCar FAL, a plaintiff must establisk{1) "a loss or
deprivation of money or property sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, é@nomic injury; and
(2) "that that economic injury was the result of, icayused bythe unfar business practice or
false advertising that is the gravamen of the claiKkwikset Corp. v. Superior Cou#il Cal. 4th
310, 322 (2011jemphases in original)in orderto satisfy thecausatiorprongof the standing
ORDER RE: DEFS.' MOTION TO DISMISS
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requirementplaintiff must demonsate"a causal connection or relianae the alleged
misrepresentatioh Id. at 36 (quotation omitted).

The court disagrees with defendants that a plaintiff would be requikesbteof the
particularFDA or state law regulations in order fapolations thereoto causeaneconomic
injury. Plaintiff's claim is esswially that, because defendatabels did not comply with state
and federal requirements regarding the e and placement of the disclosure statement, s
could not see or did not understand the disclosures, and therefore was misled by the unla
packaging and purchased the product based thei@A@ 1 79, 212-13 Plaintiff satisfis the
UCL and FAL'sstanding requirements: the court hasadly determined that defendsirgroducs
are technically misbranded, plaintiff alleges she was misled as a reswdtroistbranding and ha
suffered economic injury because she purchased a product she otherwise would nashhge
court previously held with respect to defendants' first motion to dismiss ("1st MA3&"Q
"[t] he alleged purchase of a product that plaintiff would not otherwise have purchasedloeit
alleged unlawful label is sufficient to establish an economic iAjufact for plaintiff's unfair
competition claims."1st MTD Order7, Dkt. No. 49(citing casesf

D. Products Plaintiff Did Not Purchase

Defendants further argubatplaintiff lacks standing to sue based on products that sh
not herself purchase. See 1st MTD OrdefBe courfpreviouslyheldin this casehat there can
be no requisit@ecuniaryinjury where plaintiff did not herself purchase the prodessue See
id. ("Thealleged injury in this case is that plaintibased and justified the decisitmnpurchase

[d]efendants' products in sslantial part orid]efendants' package labeling, packaging and

2 Although defendant's standing argument is tailored to the "unlawful” nutrient contert oka
the nut-mix products, with respect to defendants' labels that are not technio&lyful” but
nonethelesallegedly deceptive or misleading, courts generally recognize that whe#ie &sl
likely to deceive an ordinary consumer is "a question of fact not appropriate fos@den
demurrer.” Williams 552 F.3d at 939; 1st MTD Order 7 (citing case$)is"a 'rare situation'
where granting a motion to dismiss claims under the UCL is appropriateg'Ferrero Litig,
794 F. Supp. 2d 1107, 1115 (S.D. Cal. 2011) (quatilgams, 552 F.3d at 939).
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website claims" andwould have foregone purchasifd] efendants' productand bought other
products readily available at a lower pric¢S]AC 1[213] (emphases added).

In Lanovaz v. Twiningghis court recently extended plaintiff's standing to "products

... hearly identical to the claims for the purchased product." Order at 4, No. 12-2646, Dk.

60. InLanovaz there was sufficient detail in the amended complaint to establish that the
antioxidant ingredient in 51 of the 53 tea products at issue was the khnie.addition, the
labels describing that same antioxidant in those 51 products were ideltticsVith respect to
all products that only bear "similapackaging or label@hese areBack to Nature cookies,
graham crackers, and granola produitts Planters Nutition line of products; Kraft cheese
products; Country Time lemonade produdtsl}O sugar free products; Stovetdpfiing
products and certain sugar free gunoduct lines) the court findse allegations of "similar
packaging" insufficient to meet the standing requirement. With respect to tipurethrased
products bearing packaging aadbelsthatare allegedly the same, essentiagntical,or
substantially similafthese are the Capri Sun and Crystal Light products), the SAC provides
insufficient detail regarding the ngnurchasegbroducts' nutritional contents and ingredients tc
allow the court to find standing under the reasoningaimovaz However, with respect only to
the regular Trident sugar free gum line with "essentially identical"gzack,seeSAC {224, and
the Dentyne Ice and Dentyne Fire sugarless gum lines with "essemttadtical’ packagingsee
SAC 1 225, the cours satisfied thaplaintiff has standing to brintpese claim$ased on the
impermissible "sugar free" label©ther than these specific gum lines, however, the court
dismisses theemainder of plaintiff iewly added claims based on products plaintiff herself d
not purchae without leave to amend.

E. Claims Based on Statements Only on Defendants' Website

Defendants allege that the SAC does not sufficiently state a claim based'exctiknt
source" andhealthy"and "wholesometlaimsontheir website Defs.'Mot. 11-13. With respec
to the "excellent sourcestatement on the websidlegedly directed to defendants' Capri Sun
products, the court finds théte SAC does not sufficiently plead an "excellent source" claim

respect to any purchaspdduct. Rathethe SAC only generally alleges that "[d]efendants
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made an impermissible 'excellent source’ claim on their website regardingGaproducts"
SAC 1228(emphasis addedPlaintiff fails to plead specific reliance on this particular website
statemenwith respect to any purchased produitcordingly, the court dismisses the "excellgnt
source" website claims with leave to amend. The court dismisses theyhaatii'wholesome"
website claims for similar reasons. TBAC generallyalleges that thesgaims were present on
defendants’ websiteut does not sufficiently plead reliance on these specific aspects of the
website when purchasing any particyfanduct. SeeSAC 1245 ("Plaintiff saw such healthy and
wholesome claims which influence theirdlsdlecision to purchase [d]efendamducts”
(emphasis addel)
[ll. ORDER

174

For the foregoing reasons, the court GRANTS defendants' motion to dismissspehtre
to: (1) plaintiff's "natural lemon [lemonade] flavor" claims with prejudicgtti2 magrity of the
products nopurchased by plaintiff (as spged above) with prejudiceand (3) the "excellent
source" and "healthy" and "wholesonadims on the website witthirty daysleave to amend.
The court DENIES defendant's motion to dismiss with respect to the nutrient adaberst on

the purchased Planters Nut-rition product and Kraft Mexican Style Four Cheede ble

Y /fﬂiafd}”
Dated: J-u-l-y-28, 2013 o

Ronald M. Whyte
United States District Court Judge
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